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UUNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA
22-CR-226 (NEDBTNL)

UNITED 8TATES OF AMERICA, SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT
Plaintaftf, 18 U8.C. § 666
18 U.5.C. § 1343
V. I8 U.5.C.§ 1956

18 LS00 1957

1. HAJT OSMAN SALAT),

2. FAHAD NUR,

4. SHARMARKLE 1554,

. FARHIYA MOHAMUL,

b, EAWSAR JAMA

7. ARDIRADTRE EADIYE,

. ABRDILEATHR AWALE, and
8. KHADRA AR,

Defendants,
THE UNITED STATES GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:
At times relovant to the superscding indictment:

INTRODUCTION

L. The defendants devised and carried out ar least a $30 milhion scheme (o
defraud a foderal child nutrition program that provided Tree meals to children. The
defendants obtained, misappropriated, and laundered millions of dollars in program
funds that were intended s reimbursements for the cost of serving meals to children.
The defendants exploited changes in the program inlended to ensure underscrved
children received adequate nutritivn during the Covid-19 pandemic. Rather than feed
children, the defendants exploited the Covid-19 pandemic—and the resulting

program changes—to enrich themzelves by frandulently misappropriating millions of

dollars in federal child nutrition program funds. r SC ﬂh'&' E_D |
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Al Background on the Federal Child Nutrition Program

2. The Food and Nutrition Scrviee 12 an agency of the United Statos
Departmeant of Agricaliure (UISDIAY that  administers Tederal chald  nuoteition
programs, including the Summer Food Service Program and Child and Adall Care
Food Program (togother, the “Federal Child Nutrition Program™).

3. The Summer Food Serviee Program 1z a foderal program established to
ensure Lhat chaldren continue Lo receive nulritious meals when echool 12 not in
zezsion. The Summer Food Service Program reimburses non-profit arganizations and
other participating entities that serve free healthy meals and snacks o choldren and
leens in low-income areas.

4. The Child and Adult Care Food Program s a federal program that
reimburses non-profit organizations and other participating entities Lhal serve
healthy meals and snacks to children and adults at participating childears cenlers,
dayeare homes, and alter-school programs.

5. The Federal Child Nutrition  Program  operates  throughout  the
Unied States. The TTSDA's Food and Nutrition Service adminislers the programs at
the national and regional levels by distributing federal hunds Lo stale governmeants,
which provide oversight over Lhe Federal Child Nutrition Program,

i, The Minnesota Department of BEducation (MDE) administers the
Federal Child Nuteition Program in Minnesota,

7. Meals funded by the Federal Child Nutrition Program in Minnesota are
served at “sites.” Each site parlivipating in the Federal Child Nutrition Program

musl be sponsored by an organization that 15 authorized to participate in the FPederal
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Child MNutrition Program. Sponsors are required to submit an application to MIDE for
each =ite. Sponsors are responsible for monitoring each of Lheir siles and preparing
reimburscment claims for their =ites.

8, Sponsors submil reimbursement claims Lo MDE on behalf of sites under
their sponsorzhip. The USDA provides federal renmbursement Tunds 1o MDFE on a
per-meal hasis. MDE provides the federal funds to the sponsoring agency, which in
Lurn pays the reimbursement Tunda to the sites under 1tz sponsorship. The sponsoring
agency rotains ten to fifteen percent of the lunds as an administrative fee i exchange
for sponzoring the sites, submitting reimbursement claims, and dishursing the
[ederal funds.

a, Histerically, the Federal Child Nufrition Program has provided meals
to children invalved in education-based programs or activities. During the Covid- 153
pandemic, the TTSDA waived several of the standard requirements for participation
in the Federal Child Nutrition Program. Among other things, Lhe USDA allowed
for-profit restaurants 1o participate in the program. It also allowed for food
distribution to children outside of educational programs. At the same time, the state
povernment's stay-at-home order and telework policies made 18 more difficult to
ovorseo the program. These changes left the program vulnerable Lo fraud and abuse.

B. Feoding Our Future

10, I'eeding Our Fuorure was a  Minnesola  non-profift orgamization
purportedly in the husiness of helping community partners participate in the Federal

Child Nulrition Program. Aimee Bock was the founder and executive divector of
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Feeding Chae Fulure, Feeding Our Fulurs was an approved sponsor ol the
Frderal Child Nutrition Program.

1. Twior to the onset of the Covid-1% pandemic, Feeding Our Future was a
small oon-profl thal sponsored the partcipalion of Minnesota dayeares and
after-school programs in the Pedersl Child Nutrition Program,

12.  Beginning in  approximately  April 2020, Feeding Cur Fulure
dramatically inereased the number of sites under 1tz sponsorship as well as the
amount of Federal Child Nuoleition Trogeam funds recoived by those  sites.
Feeding Our Future went from receiving and dishursing approximately $3.4 million
in federal funds to sites under its sponsorship in 20019 to nearly F200 million in 2027,

13, Aimes Bork overaaw a scheme to defraud, carried out by sites under the
sponsorship of Feeding Our Fulure, Aimes Bock and Feeding Our Future sponsored
entitics that submitted fraudulent reimbursement claima and fake documentation.
In 2020 and 2021, Aimee Back and her company sponsored the opening of nearly
200 Federal Child Nutrition Program sites, knowing that the sites were subnutfing
fraudulent claime.

14.  Tn exchange for sponsoring the siles’ lraadulent participation in the
program, Feeding Our Future received nearly 318 million in Federal Child Nutrition
Program funds as administrative fees in 2021, Beeause the amount of adminstirative
fees it received was based on the amount of federal funds received by siles under its
sponsorship, Feeding Our Furure received tens of millions of dollars in administrative
fees to which it was nol enlitled, duee to itz sponsorship and facilitation of fraudulent

sites participating in the program.
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15, Tnaddition fo recerving tens of millions of dollars in administrative fees,
eeding Ohur Muture emplovees solicited and received bribes and kickbacks [rom
individuals and =ites under the sponsorship of FPeeding Char Pature, 1o oeffect,
Feeding Our Future operated a “payv-to-play” scheme in which individuals seclang to
operdte fraudulent sites under the sponsorship of Feeding Our Future had to kick
back a portion of their fraudulent proceeds to Peeding Our Fulure employees, Many
of these kickhacks woere paid in cash or disguised as “consulting fees” paid Lo shell
companes created by Feeding Our Future emplovees to conceal the frue nature of
the pavments and to make them appesr lemitimaste.

16. Ahdikerm Eidleh was a Feeding Our Future emploves who solicited and
received bribes and kickbacks from individualzs and companies mnvolved in the
Federal Child Nulrvon Program under the sponsorship of Feeding Our Future.
Eidleh created and used several entities o receive and conceal bribe and kickhack
pavments, including Bridge Logistics LLC, Bridge Consulting and Logiatics, Hope
Suppliers LLC, and Eidleh Tne.

C, Sponsor A

17.  Bponsor A was a Minnesota non-profit organization purportedly in the
businaess of helping commumity pariners participate in the Federal Child Nutrmtion
Program. Like Feeding Our Future, prior to the onsel of the Covid-19 pandemic,
Sponsor A was o small non-profic that sponsored the participation of dayeares and
after-schoal programs in the Federal Chald Nutrition Program,

18, DBepinning in approximately April 2020, Sponsor A dramatieally

increased the number of sites under its sponsorship as well as the amount of
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Federal Child Nutrition Program funds received by those sites. The company went
from recerving and disbursing approximately $5.6 million in federal funds to sites
under its spensorship in 2019 to more than $179 million in 2027, To 2021, sites under
the sponsorship of Sponsor A claimed to have served more than 80 milbon meals to
childrean in Minnesola,  Most of the sites cperating under the sponsorship of
Sponsor A [rawdulently inflated their claams in order to appear that they were
providing more food to children than was true. Together, the defendants claimed to
be serving meals to tens of thousands of children each day throughout the State of
MMinnesata, for which they Traudulenily claimed and received millions of dollars in
Faderal Child Nutrition Program [unds.

1% Anab Artan Awad was the prosident of Multple Community Scrvices,
MOS (Multiple Community Services”) theough which Awad contralled Federal Child
Nutrition Program sites in Osseo, Minneapaolis, and Faribault, Minnesota, under the
sponsorship of Sponsor A, 1n total, Awad fraudulently claimed approximately $11
million in Fedeoral Child Nutrition Program funds.

. The Delfendanis and Their Roles

HAJT OEMAN SALAD

20 Defendant HAJD OSMAN SALAD was the princpal of Hap's Kitchen
LLC ("Hagi's Katchen™), which he registered with the State of Minnesota in or about
September 20200 SATAD purported to operate Hajl's Kitchen from a small
warchouse he rented in Brooklyn Park, Minnesota. Through Hagt's Kitchen, SALAD
participatad in the Federal Child Nutrition Program ss s vendor under the

sponsorship of Sponsor A, As a vendor, SALAIYs Hagi's Kitchen was supposed Lo
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provide food or meals to sites participating in the Federal Child Nuteition Program,
and then SALADYs business would be reimbursed for the cost of the food and meals it
actually provided to the public. I"or instancee, SALAD was ostenzibly one of Awad's
tood vendors. However, SALAD spent relatively little fundz on food and meals.
Ultimately, he fraudulently received approximately over 216 million in Federal Child
Nutrition Program Tunds (o renmburse substantal food and meal expenses thal
SALAT did not actually incur.

21, Inor about August 2021, SALAD alzo created US Halal Foods LLC, in
part, ta give the false impression that T75 Halal Foads TLC was invalved in the food
business when, in reality, 16 was a shell company wo Turither the scheme o delraad
and to launder moncy.

FAHAD NTU'R

22, Defendant FAHAD NTTR was the principal of The Produee LLC ("The
Produce™), which NUI registered with the State of Minnesota in or about July 2021
Through The Produce, NUR participated in the Pederal Child Nulrntion Program as
a vendor under the aponzorship of Feeding Our Future and Sponsor A MNLUOK
ultimately fraudulently received more than $1.3 million in funds [or the Federal
Child Mutrition Program. MNUR's entity, The Produce, also operated as a purported
food supplier and received more than 359 million fravdulently Trom sites ar entities
invalved in the Federal Child Nutrition Program, including those controlled by
SALAD as well as defendants SHARMAREE 155A and ABDIKADIR EADIVE.
among others. NUR operaled The Produce until on or about January 30, 2022, al

which time NUR fled fram the United States approximately one week after foderal
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apenls execuled mulliple search warrants in Minnesota concerning the Federal Child
Nufrition Program.
SHARMARKE 1554

23. Defendant SHARMARKE [55A created a company called Minnesota's
Somali Community with the State of Minnesota in or about May 20200 Through
Minnesota's Samalh Community, TS5A aperated sites under the sponsorship of
Sponsor A as part of the FPederal Child Nulrition Program,  [88A was also Lhe
manager of Wacan Hestaurant LLC, through which he operated a site under the
apansorship of Feeding our Future.  Among ISSA's purported food vendors and
suppliers were SALAD and NUR., ITS88A Traudulently caused MDFE to pay out more
than 7.4 million in Pederal Child Nutrition Program funds from approximately
November 2020 to December 2021, of which approximately $1.1 mallion ISSA received
divectly from Sponsor A and of which 3.9 million was paid by Sponszor A Lo SALAD
for 1S5A siles,

24, IBS5A also operated other entilies, or otherwise participated in their
control, such as ANS Projects LLC and Bubah Barska Properiies LLC, which were
shell companies through which TSS8A and others laundered proceeds of the fraad
scheme to purchase assets, primarily real estate, which had nothing to do with
feeding children.

FARHTYA MOHAMUD

25, Delendant FARATYA MOHAMUD was the principal and CFO of Dua

Supplies & Distribution Ine. ("Dua Supphes™), which she ereated in or about February

2020, Altheugh MOHAMUD s Dua Supplies purported io be a supplicr of food, 1n
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reality, MOHAMUTYs Dua Supplics was a shell company that laundered millions of
dollars of fraudulently obtained Federal Child Nutreition Program funds, including
from SALAD and NUR., MOHAMUD laundered proceeds of the Traud scheme to
purchase assets, primarily real estate, together with her son, 155A,
RKAWSAR JAMA

26, Delendant KAWSAR JAMA waa the principal of both Gedo Community
Services, which she created in or sbout Oclober 2020, as well as Ahlan Childeare
Center, Inc. (PAhlan Childeare™).  Under the sponsorship of Sponsoe A, JAMA
fraudulantly  received Federal Child Nutrition Program funds through Gedo
Community Serviess for three disteibution sites and through Ahlan Childeare Center
for one site. SALAD was one of JAMA's purported food vendors, The total claims
amount submitted for reimbursement for JAMA's siles under Sponsor A was mors
than $4.7 million. In addition, JAMA submitted false claims on behall of another sie
under Feeding Our Future's sponsorship from which JAMA received hundreds of
thousands of dellars more in [raudulent proceeds.

ABDIKADIR KA Y

27, Defendant ABDIKADIE KADIYE wuas Lthe president of Hobyo Health
Care Foundation, which he ereated mn or about June 2020, KADIYE frauvdulently
recetved Federal Child Nutrition Program  funds through Hobyo Health Care
Foundation tor at least three [ood sites under the sponsorship of Sponsor A, The total
fraudulent claims amount submitted for reimbursement for KATIYRE s sites was more
than $1.1 million. NUR and defendant ABDULKADIR AWALFE were among

KADIYE s purported vendors or food suppliers, KADIYE received al least $1.7
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million of fraudulently obtained Federal Child Nutrition Program [unds collectively
from SALAD, NUR, and AWATE.
ABDULKAINE AWALFE

25, Defendant ABDULKADLR AWALE was the principal of Karmel Cotfee,
LLE “Karmel Coffec™ and Sambuza King, Ine. ("Sambusa King™.  In addition,
AWALE was Lhe chiel execofive officor of Nawal Hestaurant, Tneo ("Nawal
Restaurant™. Throusgh Karmel Colles, Sambusa King, and Nawal Restauranl,
AWALE participated in the Federal Child Nuteition Program as a vendor under the
sponzorship of Feeding Our Future and Sponsor A, As g vendor, AWALRE's businesses
wore supposed to provide Tood or meals to multiple sites parlcipating in the Federal
Child Nutrition Program, and then AWALE's husinesses would be reimbursed for the
cpet of the fand and meals it sctually provided to the public. Among the sites for
which AWALR was a purported vendor were those operated by Awad, KADIYE, and
defendant K11ADIA ABDT. However, AWALLE spent relatively minimal amounts on
fond and meals. Ultimately, the aites for which AWALL was supposed to provide food
fraudulently roceived approximately 5115 millien in Pederal Child Nuotrition
Program [unds to reimburse substantial fvod and meal expenses thal AWALF did not
actually incur.

KHADRA ABD

9% Defendant BIADERA ABDT was the principal of Shafii Tutoring &
Hemewark 1elp Center (“Shafii Tutoring), Under the Sponsership of Feeding Our
Fature, ABDI fraudulently received Federal Child Nutrition Program funds through

Shafii Tuloring for one food distribution site for which AWALE was the purporled

11
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vendor. The total fraudulent claims submitted for reimbursement for ABD s site
was more than 33,1 million, ABDIL and AWALE each paid thousands of dollars in
kickhacks to a Feeding Our Future cmploves, Abdikerm Lidleh, in exchange for
Feeding Our Fulure's aponsorahip of their companies” frandulent participation in the

Federal Child Nutrtion Program.

Scheme to Defraud the Federal Child Nutrition Program

0. Beeinning in or about April 2020, and conlinuing antil in or about 2022,
in the Thatrict of Minncsota, and clsewhere, the defendanls,
HAJIT OSMAN SALAD,
FAHAD NUR,
SHARMARKE TSSA,
KAWSAR JAMA,
ABDIKADIR KADIYE,
ABDULKADIR AWALE, and
KHADRA ABDI,
wpether with other scheme participantz, such as Awad, did knowingly and
intentionally devise und partcipate in a acheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain
money by means of materially false and fraudulent protenses, representalions, and
promises, and by eoncealment of material facts, and for the purpose of executing Lhis
scheme caused wire transmissions to be sent in inlerstate commeroe.

1. A main purpose of the scheme and artifies to delraud was to frandulently
obtain millions of dellars in Federal Child Nutrition Program funds by causing the
submission of fraudulent information, including falsified inveices and meal eount
recnrds with substantially inflated figures. As food site operators or as foed suppliers

and vendors in the Federsl Child Nutrition Program, SALATD, NTTR, 1554, JANMA

KATDMYE, AWALE, and ABDT were respeclively responzible for either acguirving or

11
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serving actual food Lo children, Howsver, in furtherance of their scheme, SATAT,
WNUR, 155A, JAMA, KADIYE, AWALE, and ABDI and their co-schemers, caused the
submission of false and fravdulent information, such a5 meal counts, rosters, and
invalces, and thev cach conscqguently reccived Federal Child Nutrition Program funds
that suhstantially cxcceded the small amounts of food that the defendants cither
purchazcd or scrved to children.

22, To earry oul the acheme, food distribution sites obtained fravdulent
invaices for inflated quantaties of feed purchased (rom wholesalers or distributors)
or medls served (rom vendors) te make 1t appear as though they were serving meals
L tens of thousands of children each day. Together, the detendants claimed to be
gorving meals to tens of thousands of children ecach dav around the State of
Minnczota, for which they fraudulently claimed and recoived millions of dollars in
Federal Child Nutrition Program funds,

33, An additional purpose of the scheme was to migsappropriate millions of
dollara in fraudulent proceeds in ordaer to enrvich and henefit the defendants, including
spending money inlended (o feed childeen on such ilems as real estale, Tuxury
vehicles, and travel,

SALAIY s fale in the Scheme fo Defraud

34, In lurtherance of the acheme to defraud, SATAT falaelv claimed that has
business, Hap's Kitchen, was a food vendor for mere than 15.7 million meals to
various Federal Child Nutrition Program sites in Minnesola in between in or about
June 2020 and March 2022, Among the largest recipients of purported food Trome

SALAD were food distribulion siles operated by TSA, JAMA, and Awad.

12
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35, SALAD purported to provide food to Federal Child Nutrition Program
zites using records containing false or otherwise inflated Hgures, For example, on or
ahout Movember 5, 2027, SATATY cubmitied an invaiee o the owner ol a Fedearal Child
Nulriton Program sile located in Pelican Bapids, Minpesola, g small town in west-
central Minnesota with a population of approximately 2,500 people,  In his inveice,
SALAD falsely claamed to have supplied 3293.300 worth of food [or 140,000 mesals
and snacks purportedly served at the Pelican Hapids site between October 14, 2021,
and Cetober 30, 2027, Similarly, an nr ahout November af, 2021, SALAD submitted
an invedee directly o Sponsor A contaaning an invedes for 105,588 for 50,400 meals
and snacks purportedly served al a Pelican Rapids site between Seprember 14, 2021,
and September 530, 2021, 1o reality, SALAD provided only a minimal portion of the
food and meals for which he claimed reimbursements.

6.  In furtherance of the scheme to defraud, n or aboul August 2021,
SATAD ereatad 1758 Halal Foods LLC, SALAD =0 named U'S Halal Foods LLC, in
parl, o give the false impression that it was involved in the food business when, in
reality, it was a shell company to further the scheme to defraud. Subsequently,
SALAD sent checks tolaling approximately $349, 000 from Haji's Kitchen LLC bank
arcounts to a 178 Halal Foods LLC account that he also contrelled. Speafically, on or
ahout September 153, 2021, SATAD depesited a §45,000 check [rom Hap's Kitehen
LLC to US Halal Foods TI.C that falaely stated “June — Invoice” on the check’s memea
line to disguise the illicit nature of the payment. Tn reality, SALALYs US [Halal Foods
LLC did not purchase any food during this period, and the company and its bank

account had not been established by SATAD unnl August 2021, Similarly, on or

L3
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abour October 5, 2021, SALAD deposited an SR0,000 check into his US Halal Foods
LLC secount fram “All Somalis Community of Worldwide” Although the check was
dated May 17, 2021, and the memo line indicated thal the check was purportedly for
“March Invoices,” in fact, SALATYs UIS Halal Foods LLC was not in existence and
purchased ne food at that time,

37, Aspart of the fraud, SALAD and other co-schemers used bank accounts
that were pass-throughs (o receive and further disburse fraudulent proceeds. For
instance, between approximately Decomber 2020 and December 2021, SALAT
distributed approximately 3.7 million in proceeds of the fraud to MOLLAMULY s Dua
Supplics. Similarly, NULR distnbuled approximately $221, 122 1n fraudulent proceeds
to MOHAMUDYs Dua Supplies.  Although payments fraom SALATY and NUR to
MOHAMUD purported to be for “food supply” or “food serviees” in reality,
MOHAMUD s Dua Supplies spent little on [oed for children and instead spent much
af the approximately $4 million in fraudulent procesds from SATAT and NUR on
personal expenditures, such as real estate.

38, Ultimately, SATAD fravdulently received approximately 316 million in
Iederal Child Nutrition Program funds from approxcimately December 2020 through
approximately January 2082 which was comprised of more than 51753 million in
Federal Child Nutrition Program funds directly rom Sponsor A and more than $4
millien directly from sites participaling in the Federal Child Nutrition Program,

39, lo lurtherance of the scheme, SALAD musappropriated a substantial
portion of these funds fur his own persomal benefit.  For instance, between

approximately  March 2021  and  Oclober 2021, SALAD  misappropriated

14
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approximately 52,1 million in fraudulent proceeds to purchase multiple properties,
mneluding:

A. O oor about March 19, 2021, SALAD obtained & cashier's check
[or approximately $269,008 from Haji's Kitchen LLC to North Title Inc. for the
purchasze of & residential property located at 10671 Jefforson Street NE, in Blaine,
Minnesola;

b, On April &, 2021, SALAD obtained a cashicr’s checlt for 3282, 152
from Haji'=s Kitchen LLC to North Ticle Ine. for the purchase of a residential property
located at 10040 Rumauat Street NW in Coon Rapids, Minnesota.

. On ar about April 14, 2021, SATLAD obtained a cashier’s check for
approximately 54549104 from Hapi's Kitchen LLC fo Narth Title Tne. for the purchase
of a commercial property located at 137 Hast Franklin Avenue in Minneapolis,
Minnesnta;

d. On or about May 17, 2021, SALAD sent a wire transfer for
approximataly 5437069 from Haji's Kitchen LLC to North Title Ine. toward the
purchase of o $2.5 mallion parce]l of land in Takeville, Minnesara;

e, On or about June 3, 2027, SATATD wired $4659 530 from his Hajr's
itchen LLAC aceoaunt to D3 Tile Tne. toward the purchase of a eommercial property
locatad at 2000 Minnehaha Avenue South, Suite 300, in Minneapaolis, Minnesota: and

[ Onor about Octaber 28, 2021, SALAD obtained a cashier's check
for approximately $220,585 from his Hap's Kitchen LLC aceount to the Hennepin
Clounty Sheriff for the purchase of a residential property located at 4007 Gth Ave

South in Minneapolis, Minnesota.

1%
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40, In addition 1o real estate, SALAD misappropristed Federal Child
Nutrition  Program  funds for vehicles and  relared  expenditurcs  totaling
appraximately 5472000, includine:

A, On or about November 30, 2021, SALAD obtained a check in the
amount of approximately $57,000 from s Hap's Kitchen LLC account to Sears
lmported Auto Ine, for the purchaze of a 2022 Mercedes GLE Coupe;

b. On or ahout December 6, 2021, SALAD oblained a cashier’'s check
in the amount of approximately $47, 000 from his Hagi's Kitchen LLC aceount 1o Metro
American Auto Sales; and

e, O or about September 8, 2027, SALAD obtained a check in the
amount of 230,000 from his Haji's Kitchen LLC aecount (o Land Rover Minneapolis
towards the purchase of o 2009 Hanpe Hover,

FAHAD NUIYs Hole in the Scheme

41, Il was further part of the scheme that NUR falsely purported to provide
food to entities controlled by SALAT, TS5A, KADIYE, and Awad through his
businesz, The Produce.

42.  TIn furtherance of the scheme, on or aboul March 10, 2021, NTTR filed for
an sasumed npme of “The Produce” with the State of Minnesola. Approximately five
dava later, on or about March 15, 2021, NUR opened a husiness bank account under
the name “Fahad Nur DBA Fahad Nur” On or about July 9, 2021, NUR repgistered
The Produce with the State of Minnesota., NUR opened a bank account for The

Produce on or about July 12, 2021,

16
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43. Az part of the scheme to defrand, NUR fraudulently received pavments
tor food that he had nol supplied. Despile supposedly initiating his food aperations
in or about March 2021, NUR did not actually make any significant food-related
purchases until in or about September 2021, Howewver, by that time, NUR had
alrendy received approxmomately 53,5 millinm from various entities for food that NUR
purportedly provided as part of the Federal Child Nutrition Progream.  More
specifically, on or about July 5, 2027, before NTTR had actually formed The Produes,
NIUTR had cauzed 53710.800 i invoees Lo be submilied o Feeding Our Future for
purporiedly providing 7,500 seven-day meal packs, for a total of 52,500 meals to a
single [ood distribution site. In reabity, NUR did not purchase food of the magnitude
for which NUR hilled the Federal Child Nutrition Program at the time.

44, In furtherance of the acheme to defraud, NTUTR fraudulently involend anid
received pavments from ISSA and SALAD, among other achemers, when, in fact,
NUR had not supplied the food he invowed, For example, shortly after NTTR apened
hiz initisl bank aceount on or aboul March 16, 2021, NUR fraudulently began to
deposit checks for thousands of dollars from SALAD, including a March 12, 2027
checls to NUR that purported to be for “produce service,” Additonally, on or abow
July 4, 2041, NUR fraudulently involced 268,145 .84 for suppozedly providing 3,635
gallons of milk and over 7.000 packed lunches and breaklasts to TS5A. Tn reality,
NUR did nol purchase [vod at thess Limes of the magnitude for which NUR billed, or
which NUR otherwise received payments. involving other participants in the scheme

such as SALAD and TSEA.
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4. It was [lurther part of the scheme to defraud that NUR reccived
frandulent proceeds from the Federal Child Nutrition Program intoe accounts that he
controlled. More specifically, from in or about March 2021 to in or ahout February
2022, NUK recerved over 511 million in deposits from parties involved i the Federal
Child Nutrition Program, including $£1.25 million from Feeding our Future, $1.1
million from I[55A%: Minneaota's Somali Community, $312, 000 from SALATYs Haji's
Kitchen, and at leaat 51200000 from KADTYE. NIUR thereaftar dishursad the
fraudulent procesds 1o benell himsell, imeluding withdrawing  approximately
F680,000 1o his personal account and addionally withdrawing approximately
FTR.000 10 cazh, NUR also spent hundreds of thousands dollars in proceeds towards
personal expenditures related Lo real estate and vehicles,

4G, To lurther the scheme, NUR also disbursed procesds o other
participants in the scheme, For instance, NUR disbhursed over 3191,000 10 KADTYE,
dishbursed approximately 3256,000 to SALAD, and dishbursed approximately $227 000
to MOELADNMUTLY,

47, NUR also provided funds to benefit 133A w [urther the scheme,
Specifically, NUR provided approximately $2495929 to Bubash Baraka Properlies
LLC, n shell entity that ISSA used to purchaze real cstate togethor with MOLAMLUILD,
In addition. on or about November 16, 2021, NUR wired approximately 300,000 to
a title company a2 a contribution toward the 3785000 purchase of a five-hedroom

house for TSSA Toeated at 3817 Weesr 59th Strect, Edins, Minnesola,

T8
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Awwad's Hole in the Scheme fo Defraud

48, Irom Septemhber 2020 throvgh Januwary 2022 Awad knowingly
participated with others in a fraudulenl scheme Lo oblain and misappropriate
millions of dollars in Federal Child Nutrition Program funds, In furtheranes of the
scheme,  Awad conlrolled Federal Child Nutrition Program  sites in Osseo,
Minneapolis, and Paribault, Minnesota, through her business, Multiple Community
services, SALAD, NUH, and AWALE were Awad's supposed food supplicrs, among
others.

49, As a food site operator, Awad was responsible for scrving actual food to
children through the Federal Child Nutrition Program. However, in furtherance of
the scheme, Awad received Federal Child Nutrition Program funds based upon
fraudulent information, such as [alsilled invoices and meal count records with
substantially inflated Oeures. Moreever, Awad and others received Federal Child
Nutrition Program tunds that substantially exceeded the amountls of [ood that she
either purchased or served to children.

5.  As further part of the scheme, one of Awad's Minneapolis siles
fraudulently claimed to have served more than 1.5 million meals to children [rom
January 2021 to April 2021, which amounts o approximarely 12600 mesls to
vhildren daily, Tn reality, Awad's operations at that localion served a fraction of the
meal amounts claimed. Also, despite Awad’s claims, the purported food vendor for
Awad’s location—AWALE—in fact, did not provide food during the lime period

claimed. Tn addition, none of the names on the attendance rosters submitted for
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“Ciolden Meadows.” which was one of Awad's food sites in Farnbault, matched the
names of actual children enrelled in the Faribault School District.

1. Due to Awad's lalse and fraudulent submissions, Sponsor A remitled
reimbursement pavments to Awad via checks, which Awad deposited into bank
accounts she controlled. For example, on or aboul Janvary 15, 2022, Awad deposited
a reimburscment check from Sponsor A in the amount of 3253,935.36 for a Multiple
Community Sorvices site in Faribault.

2. It was further part of the scheme to delraud thal Awad received
fraudulent proceeds from the Federal Child Nutrition Program into sccounts Lhal she
controlled, which included, among other deposits, receiving approsimalely 53,7
millien directly from Spoensor A, approximately 3 million from a purported vendor,
AWALLE, who, in [act, provided no fond to Awad, and approximately $1946,000 from
SALAD, whe was oslensibly ane of Awad’s other food vendors,

53, In wetal, Awad fravdulently claimed $11,237,106.41 in PFederal Child
Nutrition Program funds, of which the Minnesota Department of Education paid oul
$U BES, R0,

1554% Hole in the Scheme to Defrand

54. It was additionally part of the scheme to defraud that 155A operated
sites that fraudulently received Federal Child Nutrition Program funds under the
sponearship of Sponser A and Feeding Our Future, LS3S5A's sites purportedly served
2.3 million meals to necdy children using SALAT and NUHR as 155As supposed food
supplicrs.  In reality, T88A's operations served only a small fraction of the meal

amounts claimecd.
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55, To further the scheme, in or about May 2020, 155A created Minnesota's
Somali Community with the State of Minnesota, Belween approximately March 2021
and Auweust 2021, I88A received approximately #1.1 million in Federsal Chald
Nutrition Program funds divecily from Sponsor A fo T85As business, Minnesota's
Somali Community. However, little of this money was wsed by TS5A 1o purchase food.

6. In furtherance of the scheme to defraud, 18SA diverted proceeds he
received [rom Sponsor A to other participants in the scheme. For instance, [55A paid
one of his purported vendors, NUIL of The Produece, when, in fact, NIUTR had not
supplicd the actual food for which ISSA paid NUR, which included, among other
payments, $435, 990 m July and August 2021,

7. It was furither part of the scheme that TSSA mizappropriated Federal
Child Nutrition Program funds (o benehc himeell and othera, For inatance, TSSA
used fraud proceeds to payv at least $77,000 to himsell and an addienal 535,000 1o
an apparent relative,

558, Asan addilional part of the scheme, another one of IS5A's sites, Wacan
Restaurant, received more than 3300,000 in Federal Child Nutrifion Program funds
in 2020 and 2021 from Feeding Our Puture, ewever, inde of this money was used
by IS5A to purchase food. For instance, in or about December 2020, Feoding Our
Future wrote a $70,000 check to ISSAs Wacan Restaurant for an “advance payment.”
At the time of deposit, 155A% Wacan Restaurant account had a balance of
approximalely 271, Thereafter, between approximately December 2020 and
Decomber 2021, 15584': Wacan Restaurant received approscamately 53713000 1n

Federal Child Nutrition Program funds, yvet TSSA used little of this money 1o
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purchase [ood, Instead, TSS5A's largest expenditures included withdrawals and
Lransfers to entities unrelated to food distribution or purchasze, For example, on or
about February 23, 2021, TESA transferred 540,000 to Bubah Baraka Properties LLC,
a shell company controlled by ISSA and MOHAMUTL

9. It was further part of the scheme that IS5A sought o dispuize
disbursements of fraudulent proceeds in order 1o coneeal their illicit purpese. For
example, on or about January 19, 2021, I85A deposited fraudulent proceeds from
another one of hiz purported vendors, SATAT, in the amount of approximately
545,208 inte TSSA':s account for Minnesota's Somabh Community.  Te hide the
unlawful moevement of fraud procecds, this pavmenl [alzely purported to be a
“donation” to IBSA's entity from SALADY s business, Hajr's Katchen.

GO, TS58A fraudulently caused more than $3.6 million to be paid by Sponsor
Ao SALAD [or T89As aites for which SALAL purporied Lo provide food and meals.
Tn reality, SALAD provided litile fond for TESAs locations Lhrough Minnesota's
Somali Community. Bather, SALAD provided at least 33,7 million (o a shell entity,
Dhua Supplies, from which TSSA ultimately received fraudulent proceeds to purchase
real estate,

1.  ERather than provide hundeeds of thousands of menals wo children. it was
further part of the scheme that ISSA acquired multiple picces of property, including
4 STA5.000 hause for himself More specifically, in or about November 2021, 1554
purchased a single-family house at 3317 Wesl 55th Strect, in Edina, Minnpesota, for
STE5.000 using shell companies involved in the scheme to fraudulently oblain,

launder, and misappropriate Federal Child Nutrition Program funds. The 8785,000
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purchasze price for [S8A's house was funded through raudulent proceeds, ineluding:
A H5300,000 wire tranafer on or about November 16, 2021, fo a title company from
Bubah Baraks Properties LLC; & 3184308 wire tranaler on or aboul November 16,
2021, from MOHAMULYs Dua Supplics; and a §300,000 wire transler on or about
Movember 168, 2021, to a title company from NUR's entity, The Produce,

SJAMA s Role in the Scherme to Defrawd

62,  In furtherance of the scheme, JAMA controlled Federal Child Nutrition
Program sites in Pelican Rapids, Burnsville, and Minneapolis, primarily through her
businesses, Gedo Community Serviees and Ahlan Childearc. In total, JAMA's sites
purportedly served 146 million meals to needy children with SALAT as JAMA's
supposcd food supphier, among others.

#5. Tt waa part of the scheme to defraud that JAMA caused the submiszsion
of fraudulent meal counts, attendance rosters, and Involess In order o receive
reimbursement funds fraudulsntly from the Federal Child Nutrition Program. For
instance, one of JAMA's sites under Sponsor A fraudulently claimed to have served
more than 233,000 meala to :':.hildmn from just September 2021 to December 2021
through JANMA s Gedo Community Services in Pelican Rapids, Minnesota, despite the
town's small population of approximately 2,500 people. JAMA': claims about her
vperations at that location were false. More specifically, on or about November 5,
G021, JAMA submitted an involce from a purported vendor, SALATY, to Sponsor A
which purported that JAMA purchased 5293 300 worth of food for 140,000 meals and
snacks—ar, approximately 8,235 servings per day—ostensibly served at JAMA's

Pelican lapids site in October 2021, Despite JAMA's claima, the supposed food
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vendor for JAMA's Pelicans Rapids location, in fact, did not provide the [ood during
that time as claimed through JAMA's Gedo Community Services,

64,  Asanadditional part ol her [raad, JAMA falsely claimead to foed children
under Sponser A ar a Pelican Rapids commercial property. o reality, JAMA never
leased apd never sceupied the commercial property from which she professed Lo leed
children.  However, in erder Lo give the false impression that JAMA actually had =
Pelican Rapids site, JAMA forped & leass agreement and aubmitted 1% to Sponsor A
withoul the commercial property landlord's knowledpe or consent. JAMA's scheme
to defraud caused MDE o pay approximazely $574,872 for JAMA's Gedo Community
Services site in Pelican Rapids under Sponsoer A

0. Bimultancously, JAMA also professed 1o operate under the spensorship
of Ieeding Our Future, More specifically, JAMA submilled fake attendance rostors
under the name “Bilal” {or, at times, “Bilaal™ Mosque, which was a Feeding Our
Future site that was also ostensibly [eeding thousands of children in Pelican Ruapids,
However, JAMA': site documents for “DBilal Mosgue” including menus and meal
count sheels, al tmes insread listed “Burnaville Autism Learning Center,” which was
an cntity registersd with the State of Minnesota on or aboul November 7, 2020, As
part of the scheme, approximately one week later, on November 13, 2020, JAMA
opencd a bank aceount for Burnsville Autism Learning Cenler for which JAMA was
an account signalory, The mailing address provided to the State of Minnesota lor
Burneville Autism  Lesrning Center—namely 2021 CLOT Boad in Burnsville,

was the zame address that JAMA vsed for Gedo Community Services,

Minnesola

Of the names thal JAVA claimed reimbursement [or having supposcdly fed, only one
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name actually matehed the roster of approximately 7.600 children duly enrolled at
the time in Burnaville-Eagan-Savage School Thstrier 191,

66, Asoa resull, JAMA and others [raudulently caused MDE to payout at
least 800,000 more in Federal Child Nutrition Program funds under Feeding Cuar
Future's aponsorship. More specifically, on or about May 26, 2021, JAMA submitied
A 9-paps meal counl roster listing the names of children who purportedly received
fond at the Bilal Mosque site in Pelican Bapids in March and Apnl 2021, However,
nob ane of the names matched the names of students whoe actually attended school 1n
the Pelican Rapids Public School Thistrict at that time.  The children’s names
submitted by JAMA in some instances are [sbrications whom JAMA falzely claimed
Lo have fed at multiple sites in disparate locations in Minnesota, JAMA also enlisted
at least vne individual to generate Tists of names for her in exchange for money, which
included JAMA's request for concocted names for JAMA's use.

67, In total, of the approximately $800.115 in reimbursements paid from
MDE te Feeding Our Future's ostensible site in Pelican Rapids, approximately
$306,874 of that amounl was deposited on or about October 8, 2021, by JAMA from a
Bilal Mozque bank account into 1 Gedo Community Services hank account controlled
b JAMA,

B8, As an additional part of the fraud, JAMA made payments to supposed
fond vondors, such a3 SALAT, and other co-schemers, when, in reality, JAMA bought
little food for children. For instance, JAMA paid SALAD approximately 155,000 in

November and December 2021,

2
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69, Ultimately, JAMA direcily received approximately $2.7 million in
[raudulent Federal Child Nutrition Program funds [rom approximately September
2020 through approximately Fehroary 2022, In furtherance of the scheme, JAMA
misappropriated g substantial portion of these funds for her own personal benefit
This included JAMA's withdrawal of at least 3204000 1 cash, and the transfer by
JAMA of approximately 280,000 from her Gedo Community Service account (o her
personal account.  In additien, JAMA mizappropriated Federal Child Nutrition
Program [unds toward living expenses, real estale, and vehieles, including:

a. Between in or ahout March 2021 and in or about August 2023,
JAMA submitted multiple pavments totaling approximately $155 000 from accounts
she controlled toward the purchase of a residential property localed al 4509 Four
Seasons Drive in Bagan, Minnesota;

h. Between i or about September 2020 and 1 or about February
2022, JAMA submitted mulliple rent payments totaling approximately 595,000 from
accounts =he controlled;

i, Onoor about May 3, 2027, JAMA obtained a cashier's check in the

Mury Motors for the purchase of 1 2016 Tesla Model X sedan; and
. On or about Avgust 20, 2021, JAMA obtained a check in the
smounl of approximately 5200255 from her personal sccount Lo Dakota Molor

Company for the purchase of & 2012 Infinit QX586 sportz utility vehicle.
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KADIYE's Role in the Scheme o Defroaud

70, In Turtherance of the scheme to defraud, KADIYE controlled Pederal
Child Nutrition Program siles in Minoelonka, FEden Praive, and Minneapolis,
Minnesota, through his business, Hobvo Health Care Foundation, KADIYE's siles
purportedly served at least 445 000 meals to needy children with NUKR and AWALLE
as KADTYE': supposed food supphers, amnng others.

7L As parl of the scheme, in or sboul January 2021, KADIYE signed
Federal Child Nutrition Program contracts for vended meals [or his business, Hobyo
Healtheare Foundatwon, to operate two Federal Child Nutrition Program sites under
Lhe sponsorship of Sponsor A, One of KADIYE s siles in Minneapolis, Minnesota, had
an approval cffective date of February 2021 and KADIYE claimed the site would have
an esztimated daily enrvollment of 2, 800 children. The other of KADIYE s sites in Eden
Prairie, Minnesola, had an approval elfective date of March 2021, and KADIVE
claimed that site would have an estimated daily enrollment of 2,000 children,
Ultimately, KADIYE's Hobyo Health Care Foundation was approved by MDE (o
gperate those Federal Child Nutrition Program =ites and a third site in Minnetonks,
Minnesota, all under the sponsorship of Spensor A

2. It was further part of the scheme to defraud that KADIYE received
fraudulent proceeds from the Federal Child Nutrition Program into accounts thal he
controlled. More specifically, KATHYE opened a checking aceount on behall of Hobyvo
Health Care I'oundation at Bank of America on or about Februsary 16, 2021,
Subsequently, MDE izsucd reimbursement payments to Sponsor A totaling

approximately $786,8097 for claims submitted on behall of KADIYE: two Hobyo
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Heuslth Care Foundation sites for February, March, and November 2021, of which
approgimately 5675023 was deposited into KADIYE's bank account. Tn addition to
Lhe $676,023 from Sponsar A, KADIYE received approximately 51,38 million from a
purperted vendor. AWALE, who, in fact, provided no food to KADIYE. This §1.38
million amount includes meals purportedly served at KADIYE s sile in Minnetonka,
Minnesota. Tn a legitimate affiliation under the Federal Child Nutritien Program,
AWALE, as the ostansible vendor for KADIYE, should have retained much of the
funds for meals provided, However, in lurtherance of their scheme, AWALE instead
provided most of the funds to KADIYE.

T4, As further part of the scheme to defrand, KATDIYE exchanged proceeds
with other scheme participants, mmeluding KADIYE's receapl of approximately
200,900 fom SALAD as well as KADIYE s pavment of approximately $120,000 in
or about January 2022 to NUR's business, The Produce, A couple woeks later, NUR
wrote a check from The Produece to KADIYE for approximately B100,257.

T4, KADIYE caused the submission of faudulent meal counls and
attendance rosters in order to recolve reimburscment tunds fraudulently from the
Federal Child Nutrition Program. For instance, KADIYE s Eden Prairie site alone
Fraudulently claimed (o have served more Lhan TLL O meals and snack servings in
juat two months in 2021, Tn reality, KADIYE's operations for his Fden Prairie site
served a fraction of the food amounts claimed. In addition. BEADIYE caused the
submission of fake allendance rosters for his Hobvoe Health Care Foundation site in
Minneapolis. More specifically, KADIYE's Hobyo Health Care Foundation submitted

to Sponsor A an attendanee rosters listing the names of approximately 2,100 children
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who purportedly received meals at his Minneapoli= site, However, none of the names
matched the names of students who actually atiended school in the Minneapolis
Public Scheol District at that time.

70, In furtherance of the scheme, KADIYE mizappropriated a substantial
portion of these Federal Child Nuteition Program funds toward expenditurcs
unrelated Lo Teeding children, which neluded KADTYE s withdrawal of at least
21,000 in cash. Throughout 2021, KADIYE made multiple payments totaling
approximataly B35, (M0 toward the payment of the mortgage and taxes for his
personal residence localed at 13679 56th Place North in Plymouth, Minnesota, In
addition, between approximately February 2021 o December 2021, KADIVE
withdrew approximately $142 543 from one of his bank accountls o pay his credit
card bills, which contained primarily KADIYE s own apparent personal expenditures,
mcluding mmsurance, gvm memberships, airline ticket=, hotels, rental cars, and cell
phane hills.

76, In addition, between approximately January 2021 and December 2021,
FADIYE misappropriated ederal Child Nutrition Program funds in exesss of
FTE0.000 toward the purchase of real e=tate, including:

a. On or about April 28, 2021, KADIYE =zent o wire transfer for
approximately 108,258 to Title Choice LLC toward the purchase of a resudential
property located at 2930 Blaizdell Avenue #227 in Minneapolia, Minnesota;

b On or about June 14, 2021, KADIYE obtained a cashisr's check
tor approximately £362 #48.12 (o Titleemart Tne. for the purchase of a commercial

property located at 43071 4th Avenue South in Minneapohs, Minnesota;
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0, On or ahout November 23, 2021, KADIYE sont a wire transfor for
approximately $2089,593.20 to Partners Title LLC toward the purchase ol a
commercial property located at 3246 Nieollet Avenue in Minneapolis, Minnesota; and

d. On or about December 20, 2021, KADIYE senl a wire transfer for
approximately F20,000 to Guaranty Commercial Title, lne, #5 an earnssl money
deposit toward the purchase of a commercial property—more specifically, a
laundromat—Ilocated at 25838 st Avenue South, in Minneapolis, Minnesola.

T7. In addition to real cstate, KADIYE misappropriated Federal Child
Mutrition  Program  funds  for wehieles  and  related  expenditures  totaling
approximately 5227 000, including:

i Un or about February 23, 2021, KADIYE obtained a caszhicr's
check in the ameount of approximately 540,711 to Boyer Trucks for the purchase of a
2020 Ford Transit cargo van:

b,  Onor aboul March 12, 2021, BEADIYE oblaned a cashoer's check
in the amount of approximately 328,356 to Boyer Trucks for the purchase of a 2016
Isuweu NER truck;

c. On or about June 21, 2021, KADIYE oblained a cashoer’s check in
the amount of approxmartely $53,531.61 to Luther Brookdale Tovota for the purchase
of a 2020 Toyola Tundra pickup truck; and

il O oor aboul December 15, 2021, KADIVE obtained a check in the
amount of approximately $105,038.16 to BMW of Minnetonka for the purchase of a

2022 BMW Model X4 sports utihity vehicle.
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AWALE s Hole in the Scheme to Defraud

78, Tn furtherance of the scheme to defraud, between in or about April 2020
and January 2022, AWALLE falsely claimed that through his businesses—Rarmel
Coffee, Sambusa King, and Nawal Hestaurant—he was a food vendor for more than
3.6 million meals o varnous Federal Child Nuteition Program sites in Minnesota
under the sponsorship of both Feeding Our Fulure and Sponsor A, Among the largest
recipients of purported food from AWALE woere food distribution sites operated by
FADIYE, ABDM, and Awad. As part of the fraud, these various sites —with AWALRL
as the supposed food vendor—eollectively claimed rermburaement of approximately
£11.58 million in Federal Child Nutrition Program funds,

79, Ta [urther the scheme, AWALE fraudulently received millions in
Federal Child Nutrition Program [unds Lo which he was not entitled since, in reality,
AWALE provided only a fraction of the food claimed by sites operated by KADIYE
and ABDIL among others.  For instance, AWALKE's Karmel Coffee fraudulently
roceived at least 5.4 million in Federal Child Nuirition Program tunds from Sponsor
A between approximately November 2020 to May 2021, which included funds related
to sites controlled by KADIYE. In addition, on or aboul May 27, 2021, AWALE's
Sambuza King veceived s check from Sponsor A in the spproximate amount of
970,515 for purported food expenses incurred by AWALE 1 April 2021 lor a sile
when, 1 fact, AWALE provided no food commensurate fo that reimbursement
payment.

S0, Simultancous to AWALE's fravdulent receipt of funds from Sponsor A,

AWALE fraudulenily received Federal Child Nutrition Program from Feeding Our
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Future. More specifically, at various points in 2020 and 2021, AWALE received
approximately $757,822 from Feeding Our Future mostly for purported [ood provided
to ABDI's Shafi'l Tutoring, DBelween approximately November 2020 and February
2022 AWALE also deposited approximately 31,056,592 from ABDI's Shali'n Tutoring.
As the cetenaible vendor for ABDTz Ehafi’t Tutoring  in 2020 and 2021, AWALIS
purported o serve al least 1.1 million meals for ABDTU: location, when, in fact,
AWALE incurred comparatively minimal food expenditures, On top of Lthese large
deposits, AWALE's Nawal Restaurant received approximately 5974477 from
I'eeding Our FPuture between approximately May 2020 and June 2021, even though
AWALE spent relatively little money toward food.

#1. In furtherance of the scheme, AWALE also paid at least $83,000 in
Kiwckbacks o a Feading Our Future employes, Abhdikerm Eidleh, in exchange for his
role in facilitating AWALLE's [raudulent participation in the Federal Child Nutrition
Trogram. Some of AWALEs kickbacks were disguised as supposed consulting or loan
pavmeants o Bidleh or to one of the shell companies that Fidleh ereated and used to
conceal hiz kickback paymenis,

82, As an additional part of the scheme to defrand, AWALE used fraudulent
Federal Child Nutrition Program funds he received—mnaot to reimburse himsell for hia
netensible food expenses for purportedly serving 3.8 million meals —but rather, Lo
henefit others, such as KADIYE.  For instance, in 2021, AWALL distributed
approxmately 51,88 million in Federal Child Nutrition Program funds from sceounts

he controlled to bank accounts controlled by KADIYE., Similarly, AWALFE transterred

3



CASE 0:22-cr-00226-NEB-TNL Doc. 93 Filed 03/07/23 Page 33 of 59

approximately 33 million to accounts conlrolled by Awad for whom AWALE was an
ostensible vendor when, in fact, AWALE supplicd Awad's sites with no food,

3. AWALE mizappropriated s substantial portion of Foederal Chald
Nutrition Funds to henefit himself  Por example, from approximately September
2020 to October 2021, AWALFE submitted at least $515,000 10 Federal Child Nutrition
Program funds to pay ofl his resideniial mortgage for 630 East 9910 Streel in
Bloomington, Minnesota. In addition, in or about March 20022 and May 2022, AWALE
tranaferred a total of approximately $306,000 in Federal Child Nutrition Program
funds from Sambusy King 1o AWALE's personal account. In addition, between March
and July 2021, AWALE used FPederal Child Nulrton Program funds in his Karmel
Coffes account to pay himself $135,000, and in approximately the [irst six months of
2021, AWALE paid himeell another $250, 0001 in Federal Child Nutrition Program
from his Nawal Restaurant account. On lop of these payvments fo himsclf, AWALE
withdrew at least $67,000 in cash from accounts he controlled replete with Federal
Child Nutrition Program funds,

#4. It was further part of the scheme thar, rather than provide millions of
meals ta children, AWALE mizappropriated Federal Child Nutrition Program funds
towrard real estate and vehicles, including:

a. On or about June 17, 2021 AWALE obtained a cashier's check in
the amount of 74,000 in the name of another person to purchase g Cascadia truck

from Doyver Trucks:

a3
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Is. On or about September 7, 2021, AWALL obtained a cashier's
check in the approximate amount of $78,600 to Knight Barry Title Unmited LLC
toward the purchase of 11619 Selkirk Avenue in Burnsville, Minnesola,

0. O oor ahour Decomber 29, 2021, AWALE obtained a cazhier's
check in the approximate amount of $70.000 to PGP Title Company foward the
purchase of a residential property at 6408 1561 Sireel in Savags, Minnesola;

d. (On or about March 31, 2022, AWALE obtained a check in the
approximate amount of 330,774 to purchase a 2020 Chevy Traverse sports utility
viehiele from Chevy Lupient; and

. On or about Angust 29, 2022, AWALFE obtained a cashicr’s check
in the approximate amount of 575,000 to purchase a Freightliner Cascadia truck [rom
Bayver Trucks,

ALs fole in the Scheme fo Defrand

#h. It was additionally part of the achome to defraud that ABDT operated a
aite through her buainesa, Shafi'i Tutoring, that fraudulently received maore than 53,4
million in Federal Chald Nutrition Program funds under the sponsorship of Feeding
Our Future. However, httle of this money was used by ABDI (o purchase Tood.
ABDI's site purportedly served 1.1 million meals to necdy children using AWALE as
a supposed food vendor, o reality, AR s operations served only a small fraction of
the meal amounts claimed.

s, Tofurther the scheme, on or about April 4, 2020, Aimee Bock and ABDIT
completed s contract for Shafi'i Tutoring to participate in the Federal Child Nulrition

Trogram under the sponsorship of Feeding Our Future for a site located at 126 Blake

e
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Road North, Suite 1, in Hopkins, Minnesota, Subsequently, in or about May 2020,
ABDI was approved by MDE Lo operate a Federal Child Nutrition Program. ARBDIs
site was lacated in the same small commercial property as AWALE's Sambusa King.

87.  As parl of the scheme, the first pavment from MDE for a claim from
ABDI for her Shafi'i Tutoring sile was approved on or about May 5, 2020, purportedly
for meals provided in April 2020, Detween approximately Apreil 2020 io December
2021, ABD claimed entitlement to more than $3.4 million in Federal Child MNutrition
Program Tunds, Based on these claims, Feeding Our Fuoture paid approximately
52,231,035 1o ABDIL which represenled more than 86 percent of the lolal deposits
into ABD's bank accounts.

HH.  In furtherance of the scheme, ABDM also paid at least B17,004 in
kickbacks to a Feeding Our Future emploves, Abdikerm Fidleh, in exchange [or his
role in tacilitating ABDI's fraundulent participation in the Pederal Chald Nutrition
Program. Saome of ABDTs kickhacks were disguizsed as supposed “contract services”
to one of the shell compames that Eidleh created and used to conceal his kickback
payments.

#Y9.  Tn addition, ABDI diverted procceds she recetved from Peeding Our
Future to other participants in Lthe scheme. For instancee, ABDI pod one of her
purperted vendors, AWALE, when, in fact, AWALE had nol supphed the actual
amaunt of fond for which ABDI paid AWALE, which included, among other payvments,
approximately $188,000 1o AWALE personally between in or about July 2020 and
June 2022, and an additional approximaiely $1.06 million to AWALE's Sambusa

King between in or about November 2020 and February 206232,

33
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90, 1t was further part of the scheme that ABDI misappropriated Federal
Child Nutrition Program Tunds (o benelil hersell and others unrelated to expenses
for Teeding children, For instance, ABRD] used fraud proceeds to pay at least 3202000
to herself from her Shafi'l Tutoring accounts between approximately July 2020 and
October 2022, Tn addition, rather than spend Federal Child Nurrition Trogram funda
on feeding children, ABDI misappropriated such lunds by, among other things,
withdrawing at least 3127.140 in cash from her Shatt’n Tutoring accounts, spending
thousands of dollars on personal eredit card and loan pavments, cable, ufilities,
clothing, and nail salons.

91.  Intotal, in furtherance of their schome to defraud, SALAD, NUK, 1554,
JAMA, KADIYE, AWALE, and ABDI, together with other scheme participants,
caused MDE to pay at least 3580 million in reimbursements [rom the Federal Chald
Nutrition Program.

Counts 1-18
{(Wire Fraud)

92, Paragraphs 1 through 91 are incorporated herein.

93, Beginning in or about April 2020, and continuing until in or abouwt 20232,
in the State and District of Minnesota, and elzewhere, the defendants as set [orth
below, and athers known and unknown to the Grand Jury, dud knowingly devise and
participate in a scheme and artifice to delraud and (o obtain money by means of
materially fulse and fraudulent pretenses, representalions, and promises, and hy
concealment of material [acis,

4. (On or about the dates hated below, in the State and Districl of
Minnesota and elsewhere, the defendants, as set forth below, for the purpose of

A
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cxecuting the scheme deseribed above, knowingly caused to be transmilied by means
of & wire commurmicalion in interstate commeree, certain writings, signs, signals, and
sounds, cach of which passed through servers located outside the Stare of Minnesota,

mcluding the following:

1 ABDULEADIE AWALE | February 2, An email from Feeding Our
2021 uture  to ABDULKADIR

- AWALE  containing moeal

| count sheets  for Nawal

| Restaurant
2 SHAMAREKE I58A and | February 28, An cmail from SHAMARKE
I HAJT OEMAN SATAD 2021 IS5A to HAJT OSMAN SALAD
| containing a  spreadsheet of
food produce prices and a meal
counl form
4 | KHADRA ABDI April 1, 2021 An cmall  from  KHADRA

. ABTH to Feeding Ohur Future
; containing meal count sheets
4 ABDULEADIR AWALE | April &, 2021 An email from ABDULKADIR |
| AWALE to  Feeding Our |
Future containing meal count |
' sheels for Nawal Reslaurant |
i KAWSAR JAMA CApril 29,2021 An email  from  KAWSAR
JAMA to Feeding Our Future |
| | containing meal count sheats

& ABDTULEADIRE AWALE i Mayv 3, 2021 An email from ABDULKADIR
' CAWALE  to Feeding  Our
- Future containing meal count |
| | sheels [or Nawal Heslaurant
7 KAWSAR JAMA May 26, 2021 | An email Trom KAWSAR

JAMA to Feeding Our Future
| containing meal count sheots
- _ for “Rilal Mosgue” -
A EITADRA ABRDI June 1, 2021 | An email fom  KHADRA
ABDI to Feeding Our Fulure
caontaining meal count shects

& SHAMAREKE ISSA and | August 13, An email from FAHAD NUR

FAHAD NUR 2021 to SHAMARKI IS55A
containing an  involce for
266,100

a7
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ABDIKADIRE KADIYE

August 31,
2127

An email from Sponsor A o
ABDIKADIR KATITY R
containing claims summaries
for the Hobyo Heallth Care
Foundation sile in
Minneapoelis [or February and

| March 2021

11

12

ABDTEATIIR KATIYE

HAJL OSMAN SALALD
and FAHAD NUR

August 31,
2021

september &,
2021

' An email from Sponsor A Lo

ABRDIRADIL FATMY L
containing & claims summary
for the Hobwve Health Care
Foundation =site . Eden

_ Prairte for March 2021

An email from [HAJL OSMAN
SALAD to FAHAD NUR
concerning  an  invoice  for
BHET.250

EAWSAR JAMA

Octobor 25,
ey |

An  emaill  from  KAWSAR
JAMA o Sponsor A
containing a roster of names
for Pelican Rapads

14

HAJT OSMAN S5ALATY
KAWSAR JAMA

SLAMARKE 155A

Novembor &,
A0

An email from HAJD O5MAN
SALAT to KAWSAR JAMA
contaiming  an  invoice  for
F493, 300 for 70,000 meals and
TOO000  snacks  purportedly
served al a Pelican Rapids aite
in Oetober 2021

November EI.E,
2021

An email o SHAMARKE
[55A eontaining title
documents [or 3817 W 55t
Street in Edina, Minncsota

16

KAWSBAR JAMA

17

HAJL OSMAN SALAD

Movember 15,
2021

An  email  from  KAWSAR
JAMA o Sponaor A
containing a roster of names

[or Pelican Rapids

November 30,
2021

Nt

An email from HAJD OSMAN
SATATY 1o Sponsor A
contuining  an  invoice  for
105,588 [or 25,200 meals and
25,200 snacks  purporledly
aserved at a Pelican Rapids sile
in September 2021
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15 ABDIEADIR EADIYE November 30, An emuil from ABDIKADIR
f ' 2021 EADIYE to Sponsor A
containing a roster of names

for a site in Eden Prairio

All in viclation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343,

Counts 19-24
{Federal Programs Bribery)

95, Parapraphs | through 91 and 93 through 94 are incorporated herein,

96.  On or about the dates set forth below, in the State and District of
Minnesola, and elaewhere, the defendants as st forth below, corraptly gave, offered
and agreed to give anyvthing of value to any person with intent (o influence and reward
an agent of an organization. as sct forth below, in conoection wilh any business,
transaction and series of transactions of each organization involving anvthing of value
of 35,000 or more, where such organization received henefits in excess of 510,000
annual under federal prosrams invelving  grants, conbracts, subsidies, loan

vuaraniees, insurance and other forms of foederal assistance in any one-vesr period, as

follows:

14 EHADRA ABDI January 12, A check for £5,232 [from
2041 ABDI's Shafii Tutoring o |

. - Bridge Logistics LLC -

20 KHADRA ABDI January 20, | A check for 5700 trom
2021 ABDI's Shalit Tutoring to

- Hope Supphers LILOC
L 21 ABDULKADIR AWALE January 20, | A check for $12,000 from
' 2021 AWALFE's Karmel Coffee to
| | Dridee Consuliing
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a9 ABDIULEADIR AWALE Vebruary A check for 27000 lrom |
24, 2027 AWALE's Karmel Coffee to I

! Fidleh Tne. g

23 | ABDITLEADIR AWALE March 23, A check for F22.000 from
40027 AWALEs Sambusa King to

_ Eidleh Tne. _

24 | ABDULKADIR AWALE Mawv 28, A check for 322,050 from
' 2021 AWALE's Karmel Coffee to |

CEadleh Ine.

All in violation of Title 18, Umted States Code, Section G66.

Count 25
{Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering)

87, Paragraphs | through 91 are incorporated herein,
35. From at least in or about September 2020 through in or about 2022, in
the State and Diatricn of Minneeota, the defendants,
HAJL OSMAN SALATD,
FAHAD NUR.
SHARMARKE 15SA,
FARHIYA MOHAMUD,
ABDIEKADIRE KADIYE, and
ABDULEKADIR AWALE,
conspired with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury to conduet and attempt
o conduct finanecial transactions, namely, payvmentls through checks and wire
transfers, knowing that the property involved in such transactions represented the
proceeds of some sort of unlawiul activity and which, in fact, involved the procecds of
specific unlawiul activity, that is, wire raud, i violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1343, and knowing those transactions were designed, in whole and in

part, to concedl and disguize the nature, location, source, ownership, and control of

40
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the procecds of specific unlawlul activity, 1o violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 195G{a) LB,
Purpose and Object of the Conspiracy
989, The purpuse and object of the conspiracy was to conceal, hide, and
launder the procecds of the fraudulent scheme fo ohtain Federal Child Nutrition
Program funds.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

100, The conspirators uscd the following mannecr and means, among others,
ta accomplish the abjects and purpose of the conspiracy:

4. The delendants ereated entities for use 1n hiding the source and
ownership of procecds of the fraudulent acheme o obtain Federal Child Nutrition
Program funds. Same of these entities purporied to be meal vendors providing meals
and food o the Federal Child Nutrition Program sites, In reality, these companies
were shells designed to disguise the source and ownership of the proceeds of Lthe fraud
scheme,

br. The delendanls also created shell companies in order to launder
the procecds of their traud scheme.

c. After lonundering the proceeds of their scheme, the defendants
uzed their shell companies 1o purchase real estate, cars, and other porsonal items.

i. The delfendants purchased some property together by pooling
fraudulent proceeds from multiple shell companies’ reapective bank acenunts.

101, As part of the conspiracy to launder fraud proceeds, on or about August

18, 2021, SALAD crested US Halal Foode TILC. Although US Halal Foods LLC bore

41
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the name vl a business that appeared to be involved 1o [ood, in reality, US Halal Foods
I.1.0 was a shell company to obtain and launder fraud proceeds. In all, SALATL
deposited approximately $349,000 in Federal Child Nutrition Program funds into his
US Halal Foods LLC bank account.

102, As further part of the conspiracy Lo launder fraud proceeds, RADIYE
caused fraudulent proceeds to be deposited into sccounts controlled by a pass-
through, namely AWALE, whom KADIYE falzely purported to use 45 s vendor,

103, 1o addition, MOHAMUTD and other congpirators used bank accounts for
Thua Supplics to launder fraud proceeds. On or aboul February 189, 2020, MOHAMIUT
created Thua Supplies with the State of Minnesota, for which she was the CEO.
Therealter, MOHAMUD was the sole signatory for bank accounts tor Dus Supplies,
Between approximately December 2020 Lo December 2027, MOHAMUD deposited
maore than $3.7 million in Federal Child Nutrition Program lunds from accounts
controlled by SALAD. In August and September 2021, MOHAMUD deposited
approximately $221,122 in fraudulent proceeds from NUTR. The approximately 54
million from SATAD and NUR accounted for most of the money that MOHAMUD
deposited mbo Dua Supplies bank accounts.

104, Although payments [rom SALAD and NUR o MOHAMUD purported to
be for “food supply” or “food scrvices,” in reality, MOHAMUTYs Dua Supplies spent
much of the approximately 4 million in raudulent procesds from SALAD and NUR
on personal expendilures, such as real estate. Among other things, MOHAMUD
diverted approximately 515 million in fraud procceds towards various real estate

purchases, and she spent approximately $367.000 on vehicle and vehicle-related

12
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expenses and another 369 000 on travelrelated cxpenditures. In addition, on or
ahout Cetober 26, 2027, MOHAMUTY wrote a 325,000 check (o a Mercades Bene
dealership in Bloominglon, Minnesola, or an "auto purchase.”

105, Un or about September 16, 2020, MOHAMUD created Bubah Baralka
Properties LLC with the State of Minnesota. The same day, MOHAMIUD opened a
bank account for Bubah Baraka Properties LLC Tor which she was the sole account
sizmatory.  Subsequently, together with 1554, MOHAMUD used Bubah Baraka
Properties LLO to receive and launder fraud proceeds to purchasze additional
properiies.  For mstance, betwesn approximalely December 2020 and November
2021, MOHAMUD laundered approximately $573,000 from the accountls for Dua
Supplies to Bubah Baraka Properfies LLC.

106, Aller laundering the proceads of their scheme, the defendants used ther
shell companies to hide and dispuise the source and ownership through the Tollowing
types of transactions:

a. On or about Fehruary 23, 2021, Bubah Baraka Properties LLC
entered inlo 4 purchase agreement Lo buy a commercial building at 1201 37th Avenue
N, in Minnecapolis, Minnesota, for $550,000, MOIAMULD signed the purchass
apreement on behall of Bubah Baralka Proportics LLC,

b. On or aboul February 24, 2021, I85A transferred $40,000 to
Bubah Baraka Properises LLC, and on or about August 23, 2021, transferred §26,000
to Midas Capital LLC from [SSA's account for Wacan Restaurant, a site controlled hy
1554 that between December 2020 and June 2021 received approximately $315.000

in Federal Child Nutrition Program [unds yvel spent little money on food.
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L, On or aboul March 10, 2021, IS5A's Bubah Baraka Properties
LLC closed on the purchase of 1201 37th Avenue North, which was significantly
funded by wvarious consporators mmvolved in laundering Federal Child Nutrition
Program funds.

d. On or about August 19, 2021, onc of I55A's co-schemers
regiatersd ANS Projects LLC with State of Minnesota. As of at least Septomber 18,
2021, I8SA was the 50 percent vwoer of ANS Projects LLC, and its Secretary and
Treasurer. On or about October 15, 2021, 155A opened a bank acceount in the name
ANE Projects LLC an which TSSEA was one of two signatorics. Through ANS Projects
LLC, ISSA purchased real estals using musappropriated Federal Child Nutrifion
Program tunds.

. NUR used one of his emplovees at The Produce to funnel proceeds
to TS5A and other co-echemers. More specifically, on or about October 14, 2021, after
NUR temporarily gave an emploves thousands of dollars for the employee to hold
temporarily, NUR then instructed that employee to pay $80,000 of those funds o
I58A. Howewver, rather than make the payment directly in [55A% name, LssA
instead directed NUR's emploves ta obtain a cashier’s check pavable to ANS Projects
LLC, NUURs employves then deliverad a 380,000 check o IS5A pavable to ANS
Projects LLC on ar about October 14, 2021,

I O ar about October 29, 2021, 1554 and a co-schemer purchased
through their entity, ANS Projecis LLC, a rental property located at 2329 12th

Avenue South in Minneapolis, Minnesota, for $390,000 using funds they obtained
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from contitics involved in the scheme to fravdulently obtain, launder, and
misappropriate Federal Child Nutrition Program funds.

e, On or about November 2 2021, I55A signed 8 purchase
agreement to buy a single-family house localed ar 3817 West 535th Street, Edina,
Minnesota, for 785,000,

h. On or about November 12, 2021, an entity named Connecl
Properties LLC was regigtered with the State of Minnezota with MOHAMUD as the
organizer.  The registered office address for Connecl Properlies LLC was Dstaed
addresas ag 3817 Weer 55th Strect, in Edina, Minnesota, which 12 the single-tamily
house for which TS5A entered into a purchase agreement on or about Novemhber 2,
2021,

1. On or about Novembor 12, 2021, the resal estate agent
representing [T85A emailed a fitle company and asked that the agrecement to purchase
81T West 55th Street, in Edina, Minnesola, be changed from TSSA fo Connect
Properties LLC, which was created with the State of Minnesola that same day.

]- On or about November 18, 2021, 155A purchased the single-
family house at 3217 West 55th Street, in Edina, Minnesota, for $785,000 with
Conmect. Properties LLO lsted as Lthe purchaser. MOHAMUD signed the purchasc
agreement on hehalf of Conneet Propertics LLC, although the house was thersaller
paed ag a residence for 1554

k. I85A, MOHAMUD, and NUR pooled separate pavments to
purchase the single-family house at 3817 West 55th Street, in Kdina, Minnesota, for

ISSA from entities involved in the scheme (o [raudolently obtain, launder, and
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misappropriate Pederal Child Nulriton Program funds. Specifically, the 5735000
purchase price for TS8A's house was funded through a pooling of separate payments
[rom 1554, MOHAMUD, and NTTR, as follows: a 33000000 wire transfor on or about
November 16, 2021, to a title company from [SSA's shell company, Bubah Baraka
Properties LLC: a $184 308 wire transfer on or about November 18, 2021, [rom
MOHAMUTDY s shell company, Thaa Supplies; and a $300,000 wire transfor on or about
MNovember 16, 2021, to a title company rom NUIs entily, The Produace,
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956G{h).

Counts 26-69
(Money Laundering)

107, Paragraphs | throuweh 91, 93, 94, and paragraphs 98 through 1068 are
mneorporated herein.

108, On or abour the dates listed below, in the State and District of
Minnesots and elsewhere, the defendants as set forth below, knowingly engaged and
attempted to cngage In monetary transacltions by, through, or o a financial
institution, affecting interstate or foreign commerce, in criminally derived property
of 1 value grealer than 310,000, as described below, such property having been
derived from specified unlawlul sclivities, namely, wire fraud, in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 13473

46
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SHARMARII IS5A and
FARMIIYA MOHAMUD

HAJT OSMAN SALAL

24

SHARMARKT ISSA

ABDIEADIR KADIYE

January 27,
20027

I Februury &,

2021

February 18,
2021

February 23,
2021

2021

Depasit of a cashier's check

in the amaounl ol
approximalely 2120000
[rom @& DBubabh Baraka
FPropertics LLC account to
Hegis Title for the purchase

of a residential property |

located at 3152 37th Ave 5,
Minneapolia, MN GEA0G

Deposit of a chock in the
amount of approximately
FED.LUE Trom an aceounl
contralled by defendant
HAJL OSMAN SALAD to
Luther DBrockdale Chrysler
Dodge, tor the purchasze of a
Dadge  Ham 1500
piekup truck for Awad

Deposit of & cashier's check

in theo amount of
approximately BT 900
from an account eontralled
by SHARMARKE IS5A (o
GOS Tille fer the purchase

| of a property located at 7419
| York

Trorrace, Edina,
Minnecsota

Deposit of & cashier’s chock
in the amount of
approxmately  §40.711 to
Bover Trucks from
KADIYE = Haobo
Healtheare Foundation  for
the purchase of a 2020 1'ord
Transil cargo van

a0

SHARMARRKE T554A and
FARHTYA MOHAMIIT

Marvch 8, 20121

Wire transfor in the amount
of approxmimately  B345,000
fram a2 Bubah  Baraka
Properties LLO account 1o
Buankers  Title  Tor  the
purchase ol a commercal
property  located at 1201
A7th Ave N, Minncapolis,
Minnesota
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31 ITAJL OSMAN SBALAD Murch 19, Deposit of a cashier's check
2021 1n the amount of
, approximately  $2559 00838
from an account controlled
by HAJT OEMAN SATAD to
MNorth Title Tne, toward the
purchase of a residential
properly located at 10671
Cdefferson St NI, Blaine,

(Minnesota

32 ABDIKADIR KADIYE March 29, Deposit of & cashier's check
2021 in the AMOUnL of

approximately $28,356 from

RADIYE'=s Hobwvno

' Healtheare Foundation  to
Baver  Trucks  for  the
purchase of a 2016 Tsuen

| o NI truck
353 BAWSAR JAMA March 29, Nepasit of a check in the
201 amount  of approximately
SGO000  from  a  Gedo
Community Services

acoount controlled b
C KAWSAR JAMA to Pirst
CAmerican Title toward the
purchaze of a residential
property  at 48209 Four
Seasans Trive in Hagan,

] Minnesota
34 HAJL OsMAN 8ALAD April 5, 2021 Theposit of a cashier's check
in ihe amount of

. approximately 328215285

from an aceount controllod |
by HAJT OSMAN SALATD to :
North Title for the purchase |
of a residence al L0040

Eumguat St NW, in Coon

BEapids, Minnesota

A
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HAJT OSMAN SALAD

April 14, 2027

Daposit of a cashier's check
in the amaount of
appraximately  2459,104.017
lrom an account controlled
by TLAJL OSMAN SALAD to
Morth Title for the purchase
of a commercial proporty at
137 E Franklin Avenue,
Minneapolis, Minnesota

CKAWSAR JAMA

April 23, 2021

Doposit of a check in the
|amount  of approximately
BE1,249.12 from a Gedo
CCommaunily Services
account  controlled b
EAWSAR JAMA to IMrst
American Title toward the
purchaze of a residential
property  at 4808 Four
 Beasons Drive in Eagan,
Minnesola

ABDIKADIR KADIYE

EAWSAR JANA

April 28, 2021

May 5, 2021

Wire transfer in the amount
Cof approximately $10H, 258
from KADIYE to  Title
Choice LLC  toward  the
purchase of a residential
property at 2930 Blazdell
Avenun #2927 in
Minneapolis, Minnesota
Deposit of a cashier’s check
in the amount of
approximately $57, 500 from
JAMA e Gedo Community
Services to Fury Motors for
the purchasze ot a 2016 Tesla
Model X sedan

a5

HAJT OSMAN SALAD

Maw 17, 2021

44

Wire transfer in the amount
of approximately
2437.069.010) from an
account controlled by HAJT
| OSMAN SALAD ta North
Title toward the purchase of
a ST-acre lot located in
Lakeville, Minnesota
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May 24, 2021

CETO000.00 from s Dua

Deposit of a check in the |
amount of approzimately

supplics account controlled
by FARHTYA MOHAMUD
toward the purchase of a
residential property af GH25
Alverno Court, Tnver Grove
Heiphts, Minnesola

June 3, 2021

Wire transfor in the amount
of approximataly
B4R 3000 [rom an
aecount controlled by HAJD
OSMAN SALAD to Bankers
Title toward the purchase of
a commercial  proporty
located at 2500 Minnehaha
Ave B, Ste 300,  n
Minneapuolis, Minnesoia

Junga 3, #0021

CRETO 32000 from a Tuaa

'purchase of a commercial
Cproperty located at 2500
'Minnehaha Ave 5, Ste 300,

Wire tranafer in the amount
af approximately

Supplies account cantrolled

by FARIIYA MOHAMUD
to Bankers Title for the

Minneapoliz, Minnesota

40 | FARHIYA MOHAMUD
11 | HAJT OSMAN SALAD
12 FARHIYA MOHAMUD
13 ABDIKADIR KADIVE
14 ARDULKADIR AWALE

June 14, 2021

CEA62,E45.12 from KADIYE

Deposit of a check in the
amount of approximately

to Titlesmart Ince, for the
purchase of a commercial
property al 4301 4™ Avenue
South  in Minneapolis,
Minnesols

June 17, 2021

b |
o

Deposit of a cazhier's check
in ihe amount of
approximately 574,000 from
AWALL's Sambusa King
Ine. to Bover Truck Sales for
the purchase a Freightliner
Cagcadia truck
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ABDIEADIR KADIYE

June 21, 2021

46

FARHIYA MOHAMUD

- July 7, 2021

Depasit of a cashier's check

: i the amounl ol
approximalely  $53,531.61 |

from KADIYE to Luther
Brookdale Toyota for the
purchase of a 2020 Tovota
Tundra pickup truck

Wire transfer in the amount
of approximately
230169944 from a Dua
Supplics account controlled
by FARHIVA MOHAMUD
te Bankers Title [or the
purchase of & commercial
property  located at 2500
Minnehaha Ave S5, Ste 300,
Minneapolis, Minnesota

47

| FAHAD NUR

July 14, 2021

Deposit of & cashier's check
in the amount ol

| approximately 550,000 from

an account controlled by
FAHAD NUR to First
American  Title  for  the
purchase of a  property
located ar 128056 Swallow St
NW, Coon Rapids,

Minnesola

A5

KAWEAR JAMA

August 24,
2021

Depasit of a cashier's check
in the amount, of
approximalely $20,255 lrom
KAWSAR JAMA o Dakola |
Motor for the purchase of a

L2012 Tnfiniti QXE6 sporls

utility vehicle

449

| ABDTULKADIR AWALE

September 7.
2021

Deposit of & cashier’s check
in the ameunl ol
approximately $78,500 [rom
AWALE to Knight Barry

| Title TInited LLC toward

the purchaze of 11619
Selkirk Avenue mn
Burnsville, Minnesota
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ol | HAJT OSKMAN SATLAD September 9, | Deposit of a check in the
2021 amount  of approximately
FA0.000  from an acoount
vanlrolled by HAJT OSMAN
SALAD o Land  Bover
Minneapolis  toward  the
purchase of a 201% Land
B Hover for AS5.0. ]
FAHALDD NUR October 12, Deposit of a check in the |
2021 amoeunt of approzimately
F41,708.49 from an accounl
controlled by FAHAD NUR
' r Frocoway Ford for the
purchasze of a 2015 Ford - |
_ 160

A2 SILARMARKE 1S54 Oetoher 15, Teposit of a check in the |
2021 amaount of appreximately |
$R0000 to an account
contralled, in part, by
o SILARMARKL T55A .
na SHARMAREE 1554 and | October 18, Deposie of a check n the
FARHIYA MOHAMUD 2021 smounl  of approximately |
$108,000 from a  Buhah
Baraks  Properties  LLC
account to Firsl American
Title for the purchase of =
reaidential property located
at. 2030 Blaisdell Avenue,

=
—

#1004, Minncapoliz,
_ Minnesota, for 5.0, Taza
T | FARHIYA MOHAMLUD Chelober 26, Deposit of a check in the
| 301 amount of approximately |

2253000 from an  Aceount
contrelled by FARHIVA
CMOHAMUD o Feldmann
Imporls, a Mercedes Bonz
dealership

5
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Oclober 28,
[ 2021

Deposit of & cashier's check

i the amount of

Capproximately $220,583.33

from an account controlled
by HAJIT OSMAN SALAD fo
Hennepin  Counly  Sherfl
[or  the purchase of a
property al 4001 5th Ave
Bouth 1 Minneapolis,
Minnesota

November 16,
2021

Wire transfer in the amount
ol appreximately 5300, 000
from a DBubah DBaraks
Properties LLO account to
Bankers Title  for  the
purchase of a single-famaly
home located at 3817 Wesi
G6th Sireal, Fdina,
Minnesola

Gl HAJT OSMAN SATAD
il SHARMARKE T55A and
FARIIYA MOARMUD
n FAHAD NTUR
i
[
s

" FARHIYA MOHAMUD
|
|

MNovemhbeor 16,

2021

Wire transfor in the amount
af approximately  S300, 000
from an account controlled

' by FAHAD NUR to Bankers

Title [or the purchase of a
single-family home locatasd
at 3317 West 56th Btreet,

| Edina, Minnesota

. MNovember 16.
2021

Wire transfer in the amount
of approximately 5184308
from a  Dus  Supplies
account  controlled by
FARHIYA MOHAMUD to
Bankers Title fur  Lhe
purchase of a single-family
home located at 3817 West
Aoth Streat, Fdina,
Minnesala
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ABDIEKADIR KEADIYE November 23, | Wire transfer in the amount
2021 of approximaftely '
B200, 508,20 from an
aceount  controlled by
KADIYE to Pariners Title |
LLC toward the purchase of |
a commercial property at
3246 Nicollel  Avenue in
_______ Minneapolis, Minnesota
B HAJL OEMAN SALAT November 29, | Deposit of a check in the
S0 amount  of approximately
F5T,000 [om an account
. contralled by HAJL OSMAN |
SALAD to Sears lmported |
Auto Inc for the purchase of
a 2022 DMercedes  GLE

o !  Coupe
61 ABDIEADIR EADIYE | December 15, Deposit of & check in the
, L2021 amount of approximately

5105,038.16 from KADIYE
to BMW of Minnctonka for
the purchase of a 2022 !
BMW  Model X4 sports |
Cutility vehiele o ____'
fd ABDTEADIR KATDIYE TNecember 20, | Wire transfor in the amount
2021 of approximately 20,000 to
| Guaranty Commercial Title,
Ine.,  from  an account
controlled by KATMYE az a
deposit loward the purchase
of a laundromal at 2538 1st
Avenus South, in

61 ABDTUTLEADIR AWALE Decomber 209, | Deposit of a cashier's check
2021 in the amount ol
approximately $70,000 [rom
I AWALE 1o PGP Title
| Compuany Lo e Lhe
: purchasze of 6408 1565 |
| Btreet, Savage MXN :
| ABDTEATIR KADTYE January 12, Deposit of check n the :
12 amount of approximately
£100,231 from NUR's The




CASE 0:22-cr-00226-NEB-TNL Doc. 93 Filed 03/07/23 Page 55 of 59

[ Produce LLC to an account

| | controlled by KADIYE
G5 FARHIYA MOHAMUT January 21, | Depesit of a cashier's check
' 20022 | in the amount of
' i approximately  $2071, 00000
from a Dua Supplics |
account  controlled by
FARHIYA MOHAMIID
toward the purchasze of a
commercial  property  at
25200 Larpenteur Ave W,

Lauderdale. Minnesota
66 ABDUTLEATHR AWALFE March 31, | Deposat. of a check in the
222 amount  of approximately
FA0. 7714 from AWALFE 1o
! Chevy  Lupient for the
purchase a 2020 Chevy
Traverze  sports utility
I vehicle o
67 ABRDIKADIR BADIYE May 24, 2022 !J_]'e,pt_:-sit of check in the
amount of approximately |
§5093,961.52 from Arden
Title to an  account |
controlled by KADIYE for
procecds of the sale by
EADIYE of the commercial
property  located at 3246
Mienllet Avenue n

| Minneapolis, Minnesota
[t ARDULEADIR AWALE August Al Deposit of a cashicr's check
A in the amount of

- approximately £75,000 from
- AWALE to Bover Trucks for
the purchasze a Preightliner

| | Cascadia truck
69 ABDIEADIR KADIYE | December B Deposit of check n the
| 2022 amount of approximately |

M6, 71160 from  Burnct
Title lo  an  account |
controlled by KADIYE lor
procecds  of the sale by
FADIYE of the commoercial
| property located at 4301 4th

53
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i Avenus South in |
| Minnespeli=, Minnesota

All in violation of Title 18, Tnited States Code, Seclion 18957,
FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

1089, Counts | throush 69 of thiz [adictment are incorporated by reference for
the purpose of alleging torfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section
ST IMOY in eonjunction with Title 28, Tnited States Code, Section 246871(c), and
pursuant to Title 18, Umiled States Code, Section 95820a)(1).

110, If convicted of any of Counts 1 throuwgh 24 of this Indictment, the
defendants shall forfoit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States
Code, Section 981(a)(10C and Tile 28, TTnited States Code, Section 2461c), any
property, real or personal, which constiluies or s derived fraom proceeds traceable to
Counts 1-24 of the Indictment.

111, If convicted of any of Countz 25 through 6% of this Indiclment, the
defendants shall also forfeit o the TTnited States, pursuant to Title 18, United States
Code, Section 982(a) 1), any property, real or personal, invalved in a fransaction or
attempted transaction in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 18956 and
1957, and any property traceable Lo such proparty.

112. The property subject Lo orfeiiure includes, but 12 not lmited to:

a. 5224 53528 seized from Bell Bank account Noo 6521127505, held in the
name of LS Halal Foods LLC,

b. £1,197,946.40 seized from Huntington National Bank account N
1435850954445, held in the name of Haji's Kichen LIC;

L
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. $11,832.90 scized from Huntington National Bank account  No,
2436665868, held in the name of IHLAJ] OSMAN SATLAD:

d. $1.823,806.90 seized from JPMorgan Chase Bank account Noo
672371800, held 1 the name of Haji's Kitchen LLC;

. B146, 69356 seized [rom JPMorgan Chase Bank account No. 720708376,
held in the name of HAJT O, SALAD;

I 513, 168,50 seized from Bromer Bank account No. 28494853253, held in the
name of Hajt's Kitchen, LLC:

g SE.TTH00 seazed from Bremer Bank account No. 2224583487, held in the
name of Hajt Osman Salad;

h. £40.528.41 =eized from Vision Bank account No. 20153707, held in Lthe
name of Haji's Kitchen, LLC;

Lo § 0922548 seived from Vision Dank account No. 2015719, held in the

name of HAJI SALAD;
]- 42 844 91 seized from Trustone aceount Mo, 934565-0001, held in the

name of Haji's Kitchen, LLC;

k. Foris Inc., dba Creyploccem aceount the name of Hajp Salad, associaled
with Ulzer 113 86848558, with digital currency holdings valued at 357 55747, and Mat
Currency holdings valusd al $78.54, at the limea of seizore 1n May 2022,

1. 2022 Mereedes Benz GLE Coupe, VIN: JGFDEBBANASEI1OT2019;

Im. 2021 Dodge Ram 1500, VIN: 1CGSREFHTEMNGOZ2444;

. 2015 Ford F-150, VIN: 1FTEWI1EFSFIMCA8045;

bk |
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. Eeal Property located al 10040 Komguat St NW, Coon Rapids,
Minnesota;

L. Beal Property located at 137 K. Franklin Ave., Minneapolis, Minnesola;

- Real Property located al 3132 37Tth Ave. 3, Minneapoliz, Minnesota;

r. Real properiy located at 7419 York Terrace, BEdina, Minncsota;

Real property located at 1201 37th Ave. N, Minneapoliz, Minneaota:

o

t. Heal property identified as a 37.4-acre land, Parcel Tdentification (PIN)
Noo 2201271053010, Lakeville, Minnesota;

i, Heal property located at 12805 Swallow 5t. NW, Coon Rapids, including
FAIAD NUR s interest in a Contract for Deed for the purchase of this property;

V. Real property located at 2500 Minnehaha Ave 5, Ste 300, Minneapolis,
Minnesola, including MI Properties LLO's interesl, and its owners' and members’
interest, in a Contract for Deed for the purchase of this property;

w. Real property located at 1514 Oakbrooke Ln., Eagan, Minnes=ota,
mmcludimg 4 A's Properties, LLO s interest, and itz owners” and members’ interest, in
a Contract for Dead [or the purchase of thas property;

X Beal property located at 2930 Blaisdell Ave., Ut Noo 104, Minneapolis,

Minnecsota:
v, Real property loeated at 2529 12th Ave. 5, Minneapoliz, Minnesota;
£ Beal property located at 3817 W 55th 5t., Edina, Minnesota;

aa.  Real property located al 2520 Larpenteur Ave. W., Lauderdale
Minnesota, including S&A Projects LLOC and SHARMARKE [S5A% interest in a

Contract for Deed [or the purchase of this property;

aH
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bh. 2800300 U5, ewrrency seized from various locations within the
residence al 9006 12th Ave 5, Bloomington, Minnesota, including 51,935,000 lound in
a safo;

ce. Real property located at 2930 Blaisdell Avenue, #227, Minncapols,
Minnesola;

dd.  Heal properly lovaled at G310 Rast 99th Strect, Bloomington, Minnesola,
and

ea,  Ieal proparty located at 4509 Four Seasons Drive, Lagan, Minnesota.

113, 1f any of the above-described forfeitable property is unavailable for
forfeiture, the United States intends to seel the forfeilure of sobstitute property as
provided for in Title 21, Uniled Statea Code, Section 853(p) as incorporated by Ticle
15, Tnited States Code, Seetion 982(b)(1), and Title 28, United States Code, Secltion

246G 1)

A TRIUTE RTLL

UNITED STATES ATTORNEY FOREPERSON




